Part of the Job: Patron-Perpetrated Sexual Harassment in UK Public Libraries

SRN: 21190752 2022 INST0062 MA Dissertation Supervisor: Natasha Howard

This dissertation is submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the Master's degree in Library and Information Studies, UCL

Word count: 14,177 Harvard referencing style

21190752

Abstract

Patron-perpetrated sexual harassment (PPSH) towards librarians is an under-researched but indicatively critical area of sexual harassment studies and library studies. Preliminary research indicates that PPSH results from numerous overlapping social structures. These social structures include but are not limited to patriarchy and rape culture, white supremacy, feminised labour and service work. This dissertation is the first study on PPSH towards librarians in the United Kingdom (UK) and focuses on public librarians. 143 UK public librarians were surveyed about their experiences of PPSH over the past five years. The results of this survey indicate that PPSH is 'part of the job' for UK public librarians. Respondents had experienced 14 of the 16 sexual harassment behaviours listed in the survey, and 81.8% of respondents had experienced at least one form of PPSH. This study also presents findings concerning the relationship between respondents' age, ethnicity and gender, and their experiences of PPSH. The findings of this study are limited due to the formative scope of the study and the small sample size for specific respondent demographics. Nevertheless, this study has produced significant findings and has brought the burgeoning study of sexual harassment in libraries into the UK and public library contexts. In addition, this study provides recommendations for the profession and future researchers.

Declaration

I have read and understood the College and Departmental statements and guidelines concerning plagiarism. I declare that:

- This submission is entirely my own original work
- Wherever published, unpublished, printed, electronic or other information sources have been used as a contribution or component of this work, these are explicitly, clearly, and individually acknowledged by appropriate use of quotation marks, citations, references, and statements in the text. It is 14,177 words in length.

Table of Contents

List of Figures and Tables
List of Abbreviations7
Acknowledgements
1. Introduction
1.1 Defining Sexual Harassment11
2. Literature Review
2.1 Cosby, Trump, and #MeToo13
2.2 Silence in the Library14
2.3 Chain of Whispers15
2.4 Academia Responds20
2.5 Where to Next
3. Methodology
3.1 Epistemology
3.2 Research Questions
3.3 Survey Design
3.4 Survey Structure
3.5 Data Collection
4. Results
4.1 Age, Gender and Ethnicity
4.2 Incidents of Sexual Harassment
5. Discussion
5.1 Types of Sexual Harassment47
5.2 Age

5.3 Gender	55
5.4 Ethnicity	59
6. Recommendations	64
7. Conclusion	66
Bibliography	68
Appendix	75

List of Figures and Tables

Figure 1: The Oliphant group's theoretical diagram of overlapping social structures that
contribute to sexual harassment in libraries
Figure 2: Results for whether respondents experienced at least one form of PPSH43
Figure 3: Results for whether female respondents experienced at least one form of PPSH56
Figure 4: Results for whether male respondents experienced at least one form of PPSH56
Figure 5: Results for whether white respondents experienced at least one form of PPSH61
Figure 6: Results for whether respondents of colour experienced at least one form of
PPSH62

Table 1: Results for respondents'	gender identity	37
Table 2: Results for respondents'	ethnicity	.38
Table 3: Results for respondents'	experiences of PPSH	42

List of Abbreviations

- ALA American Library Association
- CILIP Chartered Institute of Library and Information Professionals
- EDI Equality, Diversity and Inclusion
- LIS Library and Information Studies
- PPSH Patron-Perpetrated Sexual Harassment
- SEQ Sexual Experiences Questionnaire
- UC University of California
- UCSF University of California San Francisco
- UK United Kingdom
- UN United Nations
- US United States

21190752

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor, Natasha Howard, as well as my friends and family for their support. I would also like to thank everyone who took the time to complete this study's survey and shared their experiences of sexual harassment.

21190752

<u>1. Introduction</u>

In 1992, librarian and author Will Manley published the first survey of sexual harassment in libraries (Manley, 1992). A regular contributor to the *Wilson Library Bulletin*, in the aforementioned year Manley wrote a 'silly and unscientific' survey on the sex lives of librarians (Manley, January 1993). Whilst the majority of the questions were crude and comedic, one question asked, 'have you ever been sexually harassed by a library patron?' (Manley, January 1993). 1,816 women, or 78.0% of the survey's female respondents, answered yes (Manley, March 1993; Manley, July/August 1993).¹ Unintentionally, Manley had unearthed a severe and indicatively endemic issue within public libraries: the sexual harassment of librarians by library patrons.

Manley was fired by the *Wilson Library Bulletin* after the 'sex lives of librarians' survey was published (Manley, July/August 1993).² Despite this, Manley was moved by the responses to his initial survey and turned to another professional magazine, *American Libraries*, to explore the subject further. In 1993 *American Libraries* (the official magazine of the American Library Association) published Manley's informal anonymous survey of sexual harassment by library patrons towards librarians (Manley, January 1993).

Manley's survey was brief, consisting of only three questions, but received 3,758 responses from librarians across the United States (US) (Manley, September 1993). The results were similarly striking as the initial 1992 survey. 73.0% of respondents had experienced sexual harassment from a library patron in the last 12 months, with 40.0% stating it was a monthly occurrence (Manley, July/August 1993). 47 respondents provided anecdotes, unprompted,

¹ It is unclear from Manley's work what percentage of male respondents answered yes to the question of sexual harassment.

² It is unclear why the *Wilson Library Bulletin* only found issue with the survey post-publication.

detailing their experiences of sexual harassment. These anecdotes were published in *American Libraries* over several months and are distressing to read (Manley, July/August 1993; Manley, September 1993; Manley, October 1993). Whilst the anecdotes touched on different consequences of experiencing sexual harassment, one perspective dominated the conversation. Sexual harassment from patrons is, for many librarians, simply part of the job.

One would expect Manley's numerous articles to have sparked a movement within the library sector to address the problem of sexual harassment. However, this did not occur. Despite the wealth of evidence provided by Manley, sexual harassment within libraries is a severely underresearched subject, both within academia and the wider profession. Furthermore, any relevant works have exclusively focused on North American contexts. As such, this dissertation is the first study to investigate not only patron-perpetrated sexual harassment (PPSH) within United Kingdom (UK) public libraries, but any form of sexual harassment within any type of UK library.

The formative nature of this dissertation necessitates a focus on establishing the fundamental facts of PPSH in UK public libraries. This includes the proportion of public librarians who have experienced PPSH over the past five years, and the types of harassment experienced. In addition, this study employs an intersectional perspective to understand how age, gender, and ethnicity impact sexual harassment experiences. By surveying a sample of UK public librarians, this study will contribute to establishing the scope and scale of PPSH in the UK. Hopefully, this study will lay the groundwork for future UK-based studies and contribute to the growing global conversation around this subject.

21190752

1.1 Defining Sexual Harassment

Many studies have found that 'sexual harassment can be difficult to define' (Benjes-Small et al., 2021, p.623). The murky waters of sexual harassment can make it challenging to achieve a consensus, particularly when the harassment involves neither physical contact nor verbal interaction (Benjes-Small et al., 2021). In contrast, sexual assault and rape are often easier to define, largely due to their physical and often violent nature. A common practice in sexual harassment studies is utilising several definitions of sexual harassment (Buchanan and Ormerod, 2002; Willness, Steel and Lee, 2007; Oliphant, Allard, and Lieu, 2020; Benjes Small et al., 2021). This dissertation will follow this path to establish a preliminary understanding of sexual harassment in UK public libraries.

One of the UK's most important legal definitions of sexual harassment comes from the Equality Act 2010. According to this Act, one person sexually harasses another when they engage 'in unwanted conduct of a sexual nature' which has the purpose or effect of violating the victim's dignity or 'creating an intimidating, hostile, degrading, humiliating or offensive environment' for the victim (Equality Act 2010). This definition focuses not on specific examples of harassment but on the intent and consequences of that behaviour. Definitions of rape and sexual assault in the UK are not covered in the Equality Act 2010 but can be found in the Sexual Offences Act 2003.

It is important to note that the Equality Act 2010 does not cover every context for sexual harassment, as the focus is on discrimination rather than assault. For example, the Act protects employees from discrimination by employers but does not necessarily protect employees from harassment by customers (Equality Act 2010; Citizens Advice, 2019). However, employers do have a legal responsibility to protect employees from sexual harassment (Equality Act 2010;

Citizens Advice, 2019). It is also important to note that the Equality Act 2010 does not protect volunteers from workplace sexual harassment, only paid employees (Citizens Advice 2019). This does not excuse sexual harassment in either of these contexts but shows the limitations of legislation.

A second significant definition comes from the United Nations (UN), whose 2018 report on sexual harassment presented the following definition. Sexual harassment is:

...a human rights violation of gender-based discrimination, regardless of sex, in a context of unequal power relations such as a workplace and/or gender hierarchy. It can take the form of various acts including rape, other aggressive touching, forced viewing of pornography, taking and circulation of sexual photographs, as well as verbal sexual conduct (UN Women, 2018, p.8).

In addition, the report remarked that 'men, women and children can all be victims of sexual harassment', and that '...sexual harassment is neither trivial nor is it exceptional: its ubiquitous presence can take many forms from looks and words to physical assault and rape'. (UN Women, 2018, p.5)

The UN's definitions illustrate a broader understanding of sexual harassment than the Equality Act does. This difference is due to the purpose of each definition; the UK legislation focuses on the workplace and criminal proceedings. In contrast, the UN focuses on sexual harassment as a global societal epidemic, occurring in many different contexts and environments. Using these two definitions provides a comprehensive theoretical grounding for this dissertation. For convenience, this dissertation will follow the UN's lead and use the term 'sexual harassment' to cover sexual harassment, sexual assault, and rape.

21190752

<u>2. Literature Review</u>

The academic literature concerning sexual harassment towards librarians is limited, in a multitude of ways. The literature is limited in terms of quantity, time period, geographic focus, and sector focus, which consequentially limits the scope and scale of findings and discussion available. These critiques are not to discredit the existing academic literature. Rather, highlighting the limited nature of these works only serves to emphasise their importance; scarcity creates value. However, this scarcity necessitates a consultation of literature outside of academia, namely online blogs and professional magazines. By casting a wide net, this literature review reveals the well-established facts of sexual harassment, and what is yet to be discovered and discussed about sexual harassment within libraries.

2.1 Cosby, Trump, and #MeToo

Since the mid-2010s three key events have shone a spotlight on the prevalence and harm of sexual harassment and have brought the subject onto the global stage in an unprecedented manner. The three events were the Bill Cosby sexual assault cases, the successful election campaign of Donald Trump, and the culminating #MeToo movement. Although these events were American-centric, they were experienced globally, largely due to the entrenched celebrity status of Cosby, Trump, and many #MeToo victims and perpetrators. With each new accusation, prosecution, and protest, the subject of sexual harassment was solidified as a global zeitgeist from 2014 up to the present day.

The cumulative effect of this cultural wave was that the topic of sexual harassment was addressed in a wide range of contexts and environments. Although discussions originally centred on the worlds of acting and politics, they quickly spread into other areas, such as education, armed forces, and libraries. The following literature review covers the existing literature around sexual harassment within libraries from three key perspectives: professional bodies, librarians themselves, and academic researchers.

2.2 Silence in the Library

Despite the international dominance of #MeToo, and the coinciding outcries around Cosby and Trump, professional librarianship bodies remained largely silent on the issue of sexual harassment. As of this dissertation's submission, the American Libraries Association (ALA) is the first and only professional body to address the occurrence of sexual harassment within libraries. In 2018 the ALA published an official statement on the #MeToo movement (Eisenstein, 2018). In it, the ALA focused on how libraries can facilitate discussions of the #MeToo movement for local communities (Eisenstein, 2018). However, this brief statement did not acknowledge that librarians experience sexual harassment whilst at work. Ironically, in showing support for the #MeToo movement, the ALA failed to recognise that librarians across America could very easily say 'me too'.

The Chartered Institute of Library and Information Professionals (CILIP), the ALA's equivalent in the UK, has never formally commented on sexual harassment in libraries. This absence is particularly surprising considering CILIP's substantial work on Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) issues (CILIP, no date a). People of colour and LGBTQ+ people are not only particularly vulnerable to sexual harassment, but often experience sexual harassment in combination with racist, homophobic, or transphobic harassment (Buchanan and Ormerod, 2008; Stotzer, 2009; Mott and Cockayne, 2021). Sexual harassment clearly falls within the remit of EDI issues, but for unclear reasons CILIP has yet to acknowledge the existence of this issue for librarians.

21190752

The failure of professional bodies, such as CILIP and the ALA, to acknowledge sexual harassment is not only surprising, but deeply concerning. The first recorded discussion of sexual harassment in libraries occurred almost 30 years ago, with Manley's 1993 articles, in the ALA's very own magazine. However, no professional library bodies have directly commented on this indicatively widespread problem. Additionally, these organisations have not provided any support resources for workplaces or librarians, such as skeleton sexual harassment policies or support resources for victims. The silence from professional bodies is a barrier to greater library-centric discussions of sexual harassment. This does not mean, however, that we should discount the library-centric discussions that have already occurred.

2.3 Chain of Whispers

In response to the silence of professional organisations, librarians took it upon themselves to acknowledge the #MeToo movement and share their experiences of sexual harassment at work. The first librarians to do so were Amanda Civitello and Katie McLain, two employees of the Waukegan Public Library Illinois (Civitello and McLain, 2016). Their presentation, entitled *It's Not Just Part of the Job*, was given at the ALA's 2016 Annual Conference; the occurrence of this event further compounds the confusion over the ALA's silence. Influenced by the #MeToo movement, Civitello and McLain's presentation marks the start of a substantive discussion of sexual harassment within librarianship, eventually permeating the academic world (Civitello and McLain, 2016).

It's Not Just Part of the Job centred around Civitello and McLain's informal survey of 173 American librarians regarding their experiences of sexual harassment whilst at work (Civitello and McLain, 2016). The conference materials provided by Civitello and McLain do not include a copy of the survey, nor their precise methodology. As such, this information must be gleaned from their survey results.

The survey primarily dealt with public librarians, who comprised 92.6% of respondents (Civitello and McLain, 2016). Other respondents were categorised as either academic librarians or special/other librarians (Civitello and McLain, 2016). Respondents were asked about their own experiences of harassment, as well as harassment experienced by colleagues or subordinates. Respondents were not asked about the types of sexual harassment they had experienced but were asked about how they felt their management had handled incidents of harassment.

Overall, Civitello and McLain found that 63.0% of respondents had experienced sexual harassment from members of the public (Civitello and McLain, 2016). 67.8% of respondents knew that their co-workers had experienced sexual harassment, with 27.0% answering 'maybe' and only 5.2% answering no (Civitello and McLain, 2016). Civitello and McLain's finding of 63.0% is very similar to Manley's survey 23 years prior. Evidently, the problem of sexual harassment within libraries has persisted.

The conference format of Civitello and McLain's presentation strongly shaped their content, with a focus on practical advice rather than theoretical discussions. The presentation included numerous examples of sexual harassment behaviours and suggestions of best practices for addressing sexual harassment (Civitello and McLain, 2016). Even Civitello and McLain's section on defining sexual harassment, in which they provide three different definitions, has a practical rather than theoretical focus (Civitello and McLain, 2016). These three definitions came from Merriam-Webster, the US Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, and the

UN (Civitello and McLain, 2016). As stated, the survey did not ask respondents about the types of harassment they experienced. Therefore, the definitions were provided to expand respondents' understanding of what counts as sexual harassment, rather than establish a theoretical and methodological basis for the survey.

From 2017 onwards, the subject of sexual harassment was increasingly discussed by library profession magazines and websites (Jensen, 2017; Dixon, 2018; MacBride, 2018; Oltmann, 2018; Dewitt, 2019; Kannegiser and Hunter, 2021). Like Civitello and McLain, many of these articles' authors explicitly cited the dramatic global growth of the #MeToo movement as the primary motivating factor (Jensen, 2017; Dixon, 2018; MacBride, 2018; Oltmann, 2018). These articles are significant in that they demonstrate an increasingly open discussion of sexual harassment in libraries, finally recognising on an international platform that this issue is widespread, overlooked, and has severe repercussions. However, the scale of this discussion should not be overstated. The total number of these articles is less than twenty. As such, the professional discussion of sexual harassment in libraries is unfortunately still in its infancy.

A major consequence of this small number of articles is that there is little discussion or debate between the articles and authors. Rather, these articles are in isolated agreeance. Every article presents the same argument; sexual harassment is pervasive within libraries, can be extreme in nature and consequence, and may not be successfully handled by management. However, possibly due to the overlapping publication dates, these articles rarely refer to each other. Even Civitello and McLain's conference presentation, whose unprecedented findings were reported on twice in *American Libraries*, failed to gain traction further afield (Carlton, 2017; Civitello and McLain, 2017; Ford, 2017). Instead of citing other works, these librarian-authored articles

focus on anecdotal experiences of sexual harassment, as well as providing well-established recommendations on how to manage sexual harassment in the workplace.

In 2017, author and former librarian Kelly Jensen published one such article, entitled 'The State of Sexual Harassment in the Library' (Jensen, 2017). Jensen's article follows a similar pattern to the one just explained but has one strong point of difference. Jensen conducted her own informal qualitative survey of sexual harassment experiences in any type of library. Conducted using Google Survey, the survey was only open for one week, but received a substantial 250 responses (Jensen, 2017).

Unlike Civitello and McLain, Jensen did not attempt to collect any statistics about the scale of sexual harassment in libraries. Instead, Jensen collected information about specific experiences of sexual harassment, with a focus on workplace management (Jensen, 2017). Respondents were asked to describe the harassment they experienced, whether they reported the incident, the outcome of the report, and their perspectives on sexual harassment training and sexual harassment as an issue overall (Jensen, 2017).

Jensen only published a small selection of the answers she received, but this edited collection was highly effective in demonstrating her key findings. Firstly, there is widespread confusion about what activities qualify as sexual harassment (Jensen, 2017). Secondly, the majority of librarians coped with their experiences of sexual harassment by adopting a 'it's just part of the job' mentality (Jensen, 2017). This mindset allowed victims to ignore the incident and focus on their work. However, this did not prevent the negative physical and mental consequences of experiencing sexual harassment.

The 'part of the job' comments published by Jensen touch on the idea of emotional labour; it is part of the librarian's job to provide service with a smile, even when experiencing harassment from patrons (Hochschild, 2012; Good and Cooper, 2016; Jensen, 2017; Allard, Lieu and Oliphant, 2020). Respondents who felt that harassment should not be 'part of the job' stated that it often became so due to poor managerial handling of sexual harassment incidents (Jensen, 2017). Respondents commonly cited a lack of managerial support and a lack of follow through action when sexual harassment incidents were reported, creating workplace cultures that accepted sexual harassment from patrons as the norm (Jensen, 2017). Consequently, many respondents stated that they no longer reported incidents of sexual harassment (Jensen, 2017).

Jensen published a follow-up article in 2019, with the intention of re-assessing how sexual harassment in libraries had changed since 2017 (Jensen, 2019). Using social media, Jensen conducted a similar survey, but this time gathered responses exclusively from public libraries (Jensen, 2019). Once again, the answers were purely qualitative, so no statistics on sexual harassment in American public libraries were collected or created.

Jensen found that sexual harassment had been discussed in many public libraries, in casual and formal settings, often prompted by the #MeToo movement (Jensen, 2019). Sexual harassment training was offered in some workplaces, but frequently focused solely on harassment between patrons, rather than from patrons towards staff (Jensen, 2019). In other workplaces no training was offered, and management simply restated the library's existing policies (Jensen, 2019). Overall, Jensen's second survey found that sexual harassment in public libraries varied widely, both in experience and consequences. Whilst anecdotal experiences are invaluable for illustrating the full story of sexual harassment, they are not enough to establish the scope and scale of the issue.

21190752

In 2021 the discussion of sexual harassment in libraries returned to the ALA annual conference. Samantha Kannegiser and Julie Hunter, two academic librarians, presented their findings on sexual harassment within library chat reference services (American Libraries Association, 2021). Kannegiser and Hunter's work is only accessible to conference attendees, however, the brief synopsis of their work states that 60.0% of study participants experienced some form of sexual harassment (American Libraries Association, 2021). Without further details it is unclear how many or what type of respondents Kannegiser and Hunter surveyed, the exact survey tool used, or how they defined sexual harassment. Although Kannegiser and Hunter's work indicates a sustained interest amongst librarians in sexual harassment, the limited information available makes it difficult to fully appreciate their work. Nevertheless, their survey-focused presentation reflected a change in the library world; a recognised need for systematic, formal, quantitative studies on sexual harassment in libraries.

2.4 Academia Responds

There are only four academic studies focused on sexual harassment in libraries, published over 2019 to 2021 (Barr-Walker et al., 2019; Barr-Walker et al., 2021; Benjes-Small et al., 2021; Oliphant et al. 2021). Similarly to the preceding discussion, they are geographically limited, with three coming from the US and the other coming from Canada. Each study has been conducted by groups of academics, rather than solo researchers, and two are interdisciplinary groups within the humanities. All three groups have conducted and published at least one survey of sexual harassment in libraries, but one has published additional works on the subject, including a literature review and theoretical discussion.

The first academic study of sexual harassment in libraries was published in 2019 by Jill Barr-Walker, Denise Caramagno, Iesha Nevels, Dylan Romero, and Peggy Tahir (Barr-Walker et al., 2019). The study focuses exclusively on the authors' workplace, the University of California San Francisco (UCSF). The study was initially intended to only be an internal workplace survey. However, Barr-Walker et al. state that the #MeToo movement, Civitello and McLain's presentation, and the absence of any academic literature on this subject were major motivators for publishing the survey (Barr-Walker et al., 2019).

Barr-Walker et al. anonymously surveyed 33 of their fellow librarians at UCSF (Barr-Walker et al., 2019). The survey used was partially created by Barr-Walker et al. and partially taken from the Institutional Betrayal Questionnaire (Barr-Walker et al., 2019). The survey had five parts, covering respondents' experiences of sexual harassment, feedback on UCSF library management, and respondents' demographic information. Barr-Walker et al. found that nearly half (48.0%) of respondents had experienced sexual harassment at work, and the majority of these people (63.0%) were women (Barr-Walker et al., 2019).

Of the nine sexual harassment behaviours listed on the survey, the 33 respondents had experienced all but one of them (Barr-Walker et al., 2019). The most common forms of sexual harassment were verbal and visual, including comments about the librarian's appearance, other inappropriate comments, and repeated staring (Barr-Walker et al., 2019). The most common perpetrators of sexual harassment were identified as being members of the public, UCSF library staff, and affiliate staff who worked in the library building (Barr-Walker et al., 2019).

Barr-Walker et al.'s study is a valuable and insightful first step into the academic study of sexual harassment in libraries, but the findings are limited in their applicability, particularly to

this dissertation. The main value of Barr-Walker's study is that the survey results formalise the key findings of the informal professional literature previously discussed in this review. However, the small sample size of the survey, which is the product of the study's internal focus and design, undermines the ability of these results to be extrapolated to other library contexts.

This limitation was overcome in Barr-Walker's second study on sexual harassment in libraries. In 2021, Barr-Walker collaborated with three different academics to publish a large-scale academic study of sexual harassment in libraries. Once again, the study focused on academic librarians, however this time the participant boundaries were expanded to include librarians from all 10 University of California (UC) campuses (Barr-Walker et al., 2021). Of a possible 1,610 respondents, 579 librarians completed the survey, which was an altered version of the 2019 study survey (Barr-Walker et al., 2021).

Similarly to the 2019 study, Barr-Walker et al.'s 2021 study found that 54.0% of UC librarians 'had experienced and/or observed sexual harassment at work' (Barr-Walker et al., 2021, p.242). Of this number, 63.0% identified as women, 20.0% as men, and 2.0% as another gender (Barr-Walker et al., 2021).³ Additionally, all 13 sexual harassment behaviours listed on the survey had been experienced by respondents (Barr-Walker et al., 2021).

Barr-Walker et. al.'s 2021 survey was far more detailed and comprehensive than the 2019 study, and this is reflected in their findings. Men were more likely to observe sexual harassment, whereas women were more likely to experience sexual harassment (Barr-Walker et al., 2021). Respondents indicated a wide variety of reasons why they did not report their

³ The remaining 15.0% of respondents who had experienced or observed sexual harassment did not disclose their gender identity.

experiences or observations, ranging from the harassment not being egregious enough, to fear of retaliation and lack of support resources (Barr-Walker et al., 2021). In the open response section of the survey, respondents were able to share personal anecdotes, as well as recommendations for policy and procedural improvements (Barr-Walker et al., 2021). Overall, Barr-Walker et al.'s 2021 study is a far more substantial and significant work than the 2019 study. However, it is not without its flaws.

In both the 2019 and 2021 study, the authors could not share data on respondent's ethnicity and LGBTQ+ identities. As both articles explain, 'the lack of diversity in our library and the need to maintain anonymity' means that this data can not be published (Barr-Walker et al., 2019, p.462; Barr-Walker et al., 2021, p.240). Consequently, neither article can comment on how intersecting identities affect UC librarians' experiences of sexual harassment. In order to overcome the limitations of Barr-Walker et al.'s 2019 and 2021 studies, it is necessary to consult other academic studies on sexual harassment in libraries.

The next academic survey of sexual harassment in libraries comes from the second group of US based academics. In 2019 Candice Benjes-Small, Jennifer Knievel, Jennifer Resor-Whicker, Alison Wisecup, and Joanna Hunter published their study of sexual harassment in academic libraries (Benjes-Small et al., 2019).⁴ Benjes-Small et al.'s study asked two research questions. The first was 'what is the prevalence of sexual harassment by co-workers among library workers in academic libraries', and the second question replaced 'co-workers' with 'patrons' (Benjes-Small et al., 2021, p.627).

⁴ Benjes-Small et al.'s 2019 study was republished in 2021, albeit rewritten and expanded upon. The arguments proffered in both articles are identical, therefore they will be referred to interchangeably and not discussed separately.

The survey was run for 24 days in April 2018 and received 613 complete responses (Benjes-Small et al., 2019). As Benjes-Small et al.'s study was published in the same year as Barr-Walker et al.'s first study, the former does not acknowledge the latter. Benjes-Small et al. do acknowledge that the literature on this subject is very limited, and therefore focus the majority of their research on sexual harassment studies in other workplace contexts (Benjes-Small et al., 2019).

Benjes-Small et al.'s study operates on several well-established principles from the wider field of sexual harassment studies. These principles include that women are more likely to experience harassment than men, and that 'the severity and type of sexual harassment depend on both the nature of the harassment as well as its frequency and persistence' (Benjes-Small et al., 2019, p.63). Furthermore, 'women in organizations that are tolerant of sexual harassment are more likely to be harassed' than organisations that are not tolerant of harassment (Benjes-Small et al., 2019, p.63). In reviewing this literature, Benjes-Small et al. noted that the vast majority of workplace sexual harassment studies focus on harassment between co-workers, rather than from clients or customers towards staff (Benjes-Small et al., 2019; Benjes-Small et al., 2021). Whilst there are similarities between these two harassment relationships, the imbalance shows that the field of sexual harassment research is far from saturated.

Benjes-Small et al.'s survey utilised the Sexual Experiences Questionnaire (SEQ), a common tool for studying sexual harassment (Benjes-Small et al., 2019). The SEQ will be discussed further in the methodology section of this dissertation. For the time being, it is important to note that the SEQ version used by Benjes-Small et al. defines sexual harassment through a list of thirty behaviours, divided into five categories (Benjes-Small et al., 2021). The unique feature of the SEQ is that it does not use the term 'sexual harassment' until the final question, where

respondents are asked if they have experienced sexual harassment in the given context (Benjes-Small et al., 2019). The purpose of this question is to collect information on the disparity between respondents' and the survey's definitions of sexual harassment, a key issue in the previous informal studies of sexual harassment. Finally, respondents were asked to report only on the last five years of their life, with the authors justifying this limitation by citing the fallibility of long term memory and the precedent set by similar studies (Benjes-Small et al., 2019).

Benjes-Small et al.'s results differ significantly from Barr-Walker et al.'s but align with the informal surveys and articles previously discussed. 77.4% of respondents answered yes to experiencing at least one type of sexual harassment, from either co-workers, patrons, or both (Benjes-Small et al., 2019). However, 83.1% of respondents answered no to the final survey question explicitly asking whether or not they had experienced sexual harassment from a co-worker or patron (Benjes-Small et al., 2019). This statistic shows that there is a major discrepancy between the authors' and SEQ's definition of sexual harassment, and what respondents consider to be sexual harassment. Benjes-Small et al. argue that the major cause for this discrepancy is the 'part of the job' mentality that is predominant in libraries and other female-dominated, service-oriented workplaces, such as nursing and retail (Good and Coper, 2016; Benjes-Small et al., 2019; Green, in press). This mentality creates an attitude that sexual harassment is to be expected in the workplace, and therefore, only major incidents qualify as sexual harassment.

The third and final group of researchers are the most prolific, having published three distinct journal articles since 2020. Based in Canada, this research group is primarily comprised of three Library and Information Science academics (Tami Oliphant, Danielle Allard and Angela Lieu) rather than an interdisciplinary group of humanities scholars. The first article published by this trio, to be known as the Oliphant group, is a literature review of workplace sexual harassment studies deemed sufficiently relevant to a library workplace context (Allard, Lieu and Oliphant, 2020).

With a focus on third-party sexual harassment, denoting a customer or client perpetrator rather than co-worker, the Oliphant group reviewed 97 case studies from feminised, serviceorientated workplaces such as retail, hospitality, and nursing (Allard, Lieu and Oliphant, 2020). The similarities between these workplaces and libraries extended further, and included factors such as customer service expectations, performance of care work, gendered work roles, feminised labour, and job precarity (Allard, Lieu and Oliphant, 2020,). According to the Oliphant group, all of these factors play a role in enabling and normalising sexual harassment, allowing harassment to occur with such frequency that it is believed to simply be 'part of the job' (Allard, Lieu and Oliphant, 2020, p.417).

The Oliphant group's literature review was not just a review, but also presented the first theory for understanding sexual harassment in the specific context of libraries. This theory is represented as a diagram in Figure 1. A complex interweaving of identity and workplace factors, the Oliphant group's theoretical diagram illustrates the numerous social structures that are at play in any instance of PPSH in a library. The Oliphant group's theoretical diagram is a significant achievement for this field of study, as it is an important step in understanding not only why sexual harassment occurs in libraries, but why it goes unchallenged and unaddressed.



Figure 1. The Oliphant group's theoretical diagram of overlapping social structures that contribute to sexual harassment in libraries. (Allard, Lieu and Oliphant, 2020, p.424).

One minor note regarding the Oliphant group's theoretical diagram is that 'workplace factors' could be more accurately named 'profession factors'. This latter term is more accurate because the five factors it denotes are traits of the librarianship profession, rather than the workplaces in which librarians operate. This renaming would allow 'workplace factors' to denote individual elements that vary according to the specific library workplace, such as the type of library, patron population size, and physical layout. However, this is only a minor issue, especially considering the absence of literature on sexual harassment in libraries. The Oliphant group's theoretical diagram is a robust and valid assessment of the wider contextual factors present during PPSH in the library.

The Oliphant group's second article on sexual harassment in libraries continued this theoretical focus, intended to grow the body of theory for the Library and Information Studies (LIS) academic field (Oliphant, Allard and Lieu, 2020). Published in 2020, this second article presents four propositions 'for intersectional feminist anti-violence education in LIS' (Oliphant, Allard and Lieu, 2020, p.95). The Oliphant group began their article on the well-substantiated premise that PPSH:

'in libraries is an "everyday" form of gender-based violence that has been minimized by and downplayed within the library profession itself as well as within LIS education' (Oliphant, Allard and Lieu, 2020, p.96).

The four subsequent propositions focus on what Library and Information Studies (LIS) education and educators must do to prepare LIS students for sexual harassment experiences and how to prevent sexual harassment within libraries. Although the propositions will not be discussed in detail, they are valuable and important contributions, and are endorsed as part of this study's formal recommendations.

In 2021 the Oliphant group, joined by Karla Mallach, moved from theoretical discussions to a practical study (Oliphant et al., 2021). Their third article takes the form of a presentation at the Canadian Association for Information Science (CAIS) conference. The brief presentation details Oliphant et al.'s survey on PPSH in libraries across Canada and the US. The Oliphant group utilised a modified version of the SEQ, supplemented with additional questions, which resulted in an extensive survey (Allard, 2022a).

The survey received 505 responses, making this study of an equivalent size to Benjes-Small et al.'s (Oliphant et al., 2021). The vast majority of respondents (83.0%) worked in public libraries, with the others working in academic and special libraries (Oliphant et al., 2021).

Unsurprisingly, 91.0% of respondents identified as female, with the remaining 9.0% identifying as either male or gender non-conforming (Oliphant et al., 2021).

The intersectional focus of the Oliphant group's theoretical work is carried over to their practical study, demonstrated through their collection of ethnicity data. 90.0% of survey respondents identified as white, with the remaining 10.0% identifying as either Asian, Pacific Islander, Hispanic or Latinx, or Black (Oliphant et al., 2021). Having received a large enough sample to ensure respondent anonymity, the Oliphant group's study should have provided the first opportunity to quantitatively understand how non-white librarians' experiences of sexual harassment differ to those of white librarians.

Unfortunately, the Oliphant group were unable to provide any statistics regarding the rates of sexual harassment for these groups. These results are going to be published in a book in 2023, and therefore cannot be shared before this happens (Allard, 2022b). The absence of this information, whilst understandable, means that there is no data on sexual harassment in libraries according to respondents' gender and ethnicity from any country or any type of library.

Unlike Benjes-Small et al.'s structured survey, the Oliphant group's survey was a simple open text box for respondents to describe incidents of sexual harassment (Oliphant et al., 2021). Unfortunately, it is unclear whether respondents could submit multiple incidents of sexual harassment, or if the limit was one incident per responder. This absence of information is likely to be due to the conference presentation format, which is far briefer than a journal article or book chapter. The Oliphant group's survey results align with the high rates of sexual harassment within libraries previously discussed in this review. 93.0% respondents reported sexual harassment from a patron in-person, and 80.0% experienced this over the phone or online (Oliphant et al., 2021). Survey answers were codified into several analytical themes, the process of which categorised sexual harassment incidents into four types of sexual harassment (Oliphant et al., 2021). These categories ranged from non-verbal to verbal, and to physical (Oliphant et al., 2021). Unfortunately, the Oliphant group do not ascribe a percentage to each type of harassment, limiting the usefulness of this categorisation. Nevertheless, the Oliphant group's study once again demonstrates that sexual harassment in libraries is an incredibly frequent and serious occurrence.

2.5 Where to Next

Despite the wealth of literature around sexual harassment, gender equality, and feminist theory, this literature review shows that there is a serious dearth of literature on the specific subject of sexual harassment within libraries. Manley's 1993 surveys showed that sexual harassment in libraries was a common and serious issue, but it was not until 2016 that this subject was discussed in any substantial manner. Furthermore, it was not until 2019 that the first academic study on the subject was published, all of which have their limitations. Clearly, there are major absences of knowledge within this subject. This dissertation intends to take the first step in addressing some of these gaps, within a UK context.

3. Methodology

3.1 Epistemology

Following the path of the Oliphant group, this research employs an intersectional feminist epistemology. Intersectional feminism originated in the 1980s with American Black feminist theory but has developed and expanded in the decades since (Carbin and Edenheim, 2013). Concisely explained:

...it [intersectionality] facilitates a form of feminist enquiry that aims to, and is capable of capturing the complexity and multiplicity of axes of oppression (Lewis, 2009, p.207). Intersectional feminism goes beyond traditional feminist theory to explore how people's life experiences differ according to the overlaying of multiple identities, such as age, gender, and ethnicity. In terms of sexual harassment studies, intersectional feminist theory asserts that the frequency and way in which individuals experience sexual harassment will differ according to the different identities they hold.

3.2 Research Questions

This study revolves around three research questions, which aim to produce an intersectional understanding of the scale of sexual harassment in UK public libraries over the past five years. The questions are as follows.

1. What proportion of UK public librarians have experienced PPSH over the last five years?

2. What types of PPSH have UK public librarians experienced over the last five years?

3. How do age, ethnicity, and gender identity affect UK public librarians' experiences of PPSH?

In order to answer these three research questions, this study employs a quantitative methodology. This methodology was chosen due to the lack of prior research on sexual harassment in libraries, particularly in a UK context. A quantitative methodology will help this study establish the scale of PPSH in UK libraries.

3.3 Survey Design

As mentioned in the literature review, one of the most common tools for measuring sexual harassment in the workplace is the SEQ (Fitzgerald et al., 1988; Gutek, Murphy and Douma, 2004; Henning et al., 2017; Benjes-Small et al., 2021). The SEQ was originally created in 1988, and took the form of a standard survey (Fitzgerald et al., 1988). Respondents were presented with a list of sexual harassment behaviours, and were asked to indicate whether or not they had experienced those behaviours. As mentioned, the SEQ's point of difference was that it did not use the term 'sexual harassment' until the final question. As a result, the SEQ was able to collect data not only on respondents' sexual harassment experiences, but on respondents' perceptions of sexual harassment as well.

Whilst an initially valuable tool, the SEQ has a critical flaw which undermines its suitability for this dissertation. The first flaw comes from the SEQ's long history. As stated, the original SEQ was created in 1988, and since this time variants of the SEQ have proliferated. These variants were typically created to adapt the SEQ for a particular context, such as the military or nursing, or to improve the SEQ's methodology, often by altering the number of sexual harassment behaviours on the survey (Fitzgerald et al., 1999; Gutek, Murphy and Douma, 2004).

Barbara Gutek, Ryan Murphy, and Bambi Douma (2004) provide an overview of the numerous SEQ variants. These include the original SEQ, SEQ2, SEQ-W, SEQ-E, SEQ-R, SHOM, SEQ-L, and SEQ-DoD, to name but a few. Since 2004 further variants have been published, including the personalised versions utilised by the Oliphant group and Benjes-Small et al. (2021) (Allard, 2022b). As Gutek, Murphy and Douma (2004) argue, these numerous variations means that the SEQ is not a standardised tool. Therefore, any version of the SEQ is limited in the validity of its results and the ability to compare results between SEQ studies (Gutek, Murphy and Douma, 2004). This comparability is the main purported strength of the SEQ, but evidently, this strength is actually a severe flaw.

Rather than using the SEQ, this study employs the UK government's survey tool from their 2020 Sexual Harassment Report (United Kingdom. Government Equalities Office, 2020). The intention of the UK government's report is very similar to this study; to ascertain 'the prevalence of sexual harassment' within a chosen population (United Kingdom. Government Equalities Office, 2020, p.7). For the government, this population was a representative sample of the UK population (United Kingdom. Government Equalities Office, 2020). For this study, the chosen population are individuals who have worked in the UK as a public librarian at any point in the last five years, from May 2017 to May 2022.

The UK Government report's approach to defining sexual harassment differs markedly from studies that employ the SEQ. Although the survey utilises the 2010 Equality Act's definition of sexual harassment, there is a strong supplementary focus on:

...the self-determined nature of sexual harassment...allowing participants to determine what they experienced based on their own, self-determined view of the sexual harassment behaviours being unwanted (United Kingdom. Government Equalities Office, 2020, p.7).

The focus on personal perceptions of sexual harassment is reflected in the language used in the survey questions, with the phrase 'made you feel uncomfortable' repeatedly appearing (United Kingdom. Government Equalities Office, 2020, p.24).

As a result of the legal and self-determined approach to defining sexual harassment, the survey does not present respondents with a single authoritative definition. Instead, like many of the studies covered in the literature review, the survey defines sexual harassment through a list of fifteen sexual harassment behaviours (United Kingdom. Government Equalities Office, 2020). After several rounds of testing, a sixteenth question was added to the survey, rounding out the survey's definition of sexual harassment (United Kingdom. Government Equalities Office, 2020). This question asked respondents if they had experienced any other forms of sexual harassment not already covered in the survey. This question solved the issue of balancing a comprehensive list of sexual harassment behaviours with a functional and practical survey that respondents could quickly complete.

Undoubtedly, the UK government survey has neither the longevity nor widespread testing of the SEQ. Nevertheless, the theoretical foundations and resulting design of the UK government survey are far more in line with modern-day understandings of sexual harassment than the SEQ, making the former a more appropriate tool for this study than the latter.

3.4 Survey Structure

This survey utilised a broad definition of 'public librarian', primarily based on respondents' self-identification. Question one of the survey informed respondents that they did not need a librarianship degree to be considered a public librarian. Rather, it only mattered whether or not the respondent had worked in a public library, either as an employee or volunteer.

34

21190752

The survey employed in this study is comprised of 20 questions, with the first four being screening questions.⁵ Question one determined the respondent's eligibility to participate in the survey. If the respondent answered 'no' to question one, the survey would conclude. Questions two, three, and four collected simple demographic data on participants, specifically whether they were under 18 whilst working in a public library, their gender identity, and their ethnicity.

The structure of question three was based on the Stonewall organisation's guide to capturing LGBT data in workplace research (Stonewall, 2016). In order to create a respectful and inclusive environment, Stonewall strongly argues in favour of allowing people to self-describe their gender identity, as well as providing the option to not disclose their gender identity at all (Stonewall, 2016). Consequently, the survey included these two options within the answer list for question three.

Following the first four screening questions, the respondents were asked to answer 16 questions on specific sexual harassment behaviours. Respondents were asked to indicate either 'yes' or 'no' to each question. In line with the quantitative methodology of this study, respondents were not asked to describe any sexual harassment experiences.

3.5 Data Collection

The survey was hosted on the platform Opinio, which complied with data protection regulations. All survey responses were completely anonymous, and respondents were assured of their anonymity before completing the survey. Respondents were also assured that their

⁵ A copy of the survey is available in the appendix.

answers could not be traced back to themselves or their workplaces and were given the option to decline to answer any survey questions.

The survey was open for 34 days, from May 17 2022 until June 19 2022, and was distributed digitally through several avenues. Firstly, it was shared with fellow students on the UCL Library and Information Studies MA course. The survey was distributed on two JISC mail servers, namely LIS-PROFESSION and LIS-PUB-LIS. The former is intended for any library professionals, and the latter is specifically for public librarians. The survey was also shared through professional networks on social media. Additionally, respondents were invited to share the survey with any interested parties. The survey may, therefore, have been shared via additional pathways or platforms unknown to this study's author.
21190752

4. Results

Over the course of 34 days, the sexual harassment survey received 207 responses. These responses were exported from Opinio and analysed using SPSS and Excel. Surveys that answered 'no' to question one were removed, as they did not qualify for this study. Incomplete surveys, meaning surveys that were abandoned part way through, were removed from the results pool. Survey responses that did not answer every question were still considered complete, as respondents were given the option of refusing to answer any of the survey questions. Following this filtering, the final number of completed survey responses was 143.

4.1 Age, Gender, and Ethnicity

Of the 143 responses, only three had been under 18 years old at any point in the last five years whilst working as a UK public librarian (2.1%).

Gender Identity	Number	Percentage
Female	123	86.0%
Male	16	11.2%
Non-binary	2	1.4%
Prefer to self-describe	2	1.4%
Total	143	100.0%

 Table 1. Results for respondents' gender identity

Question three asked respondents about their gender identity. The results are shown above in Table 1. The overwhelming majority of respondents were women. 123 respondents (86.0%) identified as female, 16 respondents (11.2%) identified as male, two respondents (1.4%) identified as non-binary, and two respondents (1.4%) self-described their gender identity. The

self-descriptions provided in this last category will not be shared to ensure respondent anonymity.

Ethnicity	Number	Percentage	
Asian or Asian British	11	7.7%	
Black, African, Caribbean or Black British	2	1.4%	
Mixed or multiple ethnic groups	3	2.1%	
Other ethnic group	4	2.8%	
Prefer not to say	3	2.1%	
White	120	83.9%	
Total	143	100.0%	

 Table 2. Results for respondents' ethnicity

Question four asked respondents about their ethnicity. The results are shown above in Table 2. The vast majority of respondents identified as White, with 120 respondents (83.9%) selecting this category. 11 respondents (7.7%) identified as Asian or Asian British, two respondents (1.4%) identified as Black, African, Caribbean or Black British, and three respondents (2.1%) identified as mixed or multiple ethnic groups. Four respondents (2.8%) identified as another ethnic group not listed above. Three respondents (2.1%) chose not to disclose their ethnicity.

4.2 Incidents of Sexual Harassment

Table 3 (p.42) shows the complete survey results for questions five through 20. The sixteen different sexual harassment behaviours have been displayed in descending order of 'yes' results, rather than the actual survey order. This means that the first behaviour, 'unwelcome jokes or comments of a sexual nature about you or others that made you feel uncomfortable', was experienced by the greatest proportion of respondents (64.3%). Conversely, the last

behaviour on the table, 'rape and/or attempted rape', was experienced by the fewest respondents (0.0%).

This ordering reveals four natural groupings for the survey results. These groups are shown in Table 3 (p.42) by the coloured boxes. The red box indicates group one. These are the sexual harassment behaviours that were experienced by the greatest proportion of respondents, between 40.0% and 65.0%. The orange box indicates group two. These are the second most commonly experienced group of behaviours, generally between 20.0% and 30.0%. The blue box indicates group three. These are some of the least commonly experienced sexual harassment behaviours, all falling under 10.0%. The green box is group four. These are the types of sexual harassment that were not experienced by any respondents.

Group one (red) contains four types of sexual harassment. The most common type of sexual harassment experienced by UK public librarians is 'unwelcome jokes or comments of a sexual nature about you or others that made you feel uncomfortable', with 64.3% of respondents answering 'yes'. The subsequent three most common forms of sexual harassment are unwelcome staring or looks (59.4%), displays of pornographic or sexually offensive materials (50.3%), and unwelcome comments of a sexual nature about your body or clothes (44.1%).

Group two (orange) contains five types of sexual harassment. Group two behaviours are commonly experienced by public librarians but substantially less frequently than group one. Group two's two most common sexual harassment behaviours received a 'yes' response rate of 28.7%. These are a patron intentionally brushing up against you or invading your personal space in an unwelcome sexual way, and unwanted touching e.g. placing their hand on your lower back or knee.

INST0062

21190752

The additional types of sexual harassment included in group two are as follows. 23.8% of respondents had experienced a patron making persistent and/or unwanted attempts to establish a romantic and/or sexual relationship. 20.3% of respondents had experienced a patron physically following them without their permission in a way that made them feel sexually threatened. 17.5% of respondents had experienced unwelcome catcalls, wolf-whistling or other provocative sounds. Each sexual harassment question in group two was not answered by either one or two respondents.

Group three (blue) contains five sexual harassment behaviours that received substantially lower 'yes' answers than groups one and two. Less than 10.0% of respondents answered 'yes' to any of the group three behaviours. The most common form of sexual harassment within this third group is actually 'any other forms of sexual harassment', which received a 'yes' response rate of 7.7%. Unfortunately, this study's quantitative structure did not allow respondents to comment on what these other types of sexual harassment were. The inability to ascertain this information is an unavoidable limitation for this study. Nevertheless, it can be inferred that these 11 respondents felt that none of the examples of sexual harassment listed in the survey adequately described their experiences of sexual harassment.

Also within group three are the following sexual harassment behaviours. 4.9% of respondents had received unwanted messages with material of a sexual nature. 4.2% of respondents had felt pressured by a patron to date them or do a sexual act in exchange for something. 2.8% of respondents had experienced unwanted, overt sexual touching from a patron, and 2.8% had also been flashed by a patron.

The question regarding flashing was the most commonly unanswered in this survey. Five respondents did not provide an answer. There are several possible reasons why a respondent did not answer a question. For example, the respondent may have felt uncomfortable providing an answer, unsure whether their experiences fit the description, or accidentally skipped over the question. However, the inability to know with certainty why a respondent did not answer the question is a minor and somewhat expected limitation of this study.

Group four (green) contains the two behaviours that received zero 'yes' responses. These are a patron taking/and or sharing sexual pictures or videos of you without your permission, and rape and/or attempted rape.

Survey Question	Did Not Answer		No		Yes	
	Frequency	Percent	Frequency	Percent	Frequency	Percent
Unwelcome jokes or comments of a sexual nature about you or others that made you feel uncomfortable	0	0.0%	51	35.7%	92	64.3%
Unwelcome staring or looks which made you feel uncomfortable	1	0.7%	57	39.9%	85	59.4%
Displays of pornographic or sexually offensive materials which made you feel uncomfortable, including it being viewed near you	0	0.0%	71	49.7%	72	50.3%
Unwelcome comments of a sexual nature about your body and/or clothes	0	0.0%	80	55.9%	63	44.1%
Someone intentionally brushing up against you or invading your personal space in an unwelcome, sexual way	2	1.4%	100	69.9%	41	28.7%
Unwanted touching (e.g. placing hand on lower back or knee)	1	0.7%	101	70.6%	41	28.7%
Someone making persistent and/or unwanted attempts to establish a romantic and/or sexual relationship with you despite your efforts to discourage it	1	0.7%	108	75.5%	34	23.8%
Someone physically following you without your permission in a way that made you feel sexually threatened	1	0.7%	113	79.0%	29	20.3%
Unwelcome catcalls, wolf-whistling or other provocative sounds	2	1.4%	116	81.1%	25	17.5%
Any other forms of sexual harassment	2	1.4%	130	90.9%	11	7.7%
Receiving unwanted messages with material of a sexual nature e.g. by text/messaging app, email, social media, instant chat, or another source	2	1.4%	134	93.7%	7	4.9%
Feeling pressured by someone to date them or do a sexual act in exchange for something	1	0.7%	136	95.1%	6	4.2%
Flashing (e.g. the deliberate exposure of someone's intimate parts)	5	3.5%	134	93.7%	4	2.8%
Unwanted, overt sexual touching (touching of the breasts, buttocks or genitals, attempts to kiss)	1	0.7%	138	96.5%	4	2.8%
Someone taking and/or sharing sexual pictures or videos of you without your permission	1	0.7%	142	99.3%	0	0.0%
Rape and/or attempted rape	2	1.4%	141	98.6%	0	0.0%

Table 3. Results for respondents' experiences of PPSH

Red = Group One

Orange = Group Two Blue = Group Three

Green = Group Four

5. Discussion



Figure 2. Results for whether respondents experienced at least one form of PPSH

Based on the results of this study, it is evident that PPSH has been widely experienced by UK public librarians over the past five years. Of the 143 respondents, 117 had experienced at least one form of sexual harassment listed in the survey. This means that 81.8% of UK public librarians surveyed in this study have experienced at least one form of sexual harassment from a library patron over the past five years. Figure 2 illustrates this key finding.

The results of this study, particularly the finding of 81.8%, are similar to most of the results of the studies covered in the literature review. Manley's 1993 survey, the earliest recorded survey on this subject, found that 73.0% of respondents had experienced at least one form of sexual harassment (Manley, July/August 1993). The subsequent studies, academic and non-academic,

produced comparable findings, such as Civitello and McLain's (2016) result of 63.0%, and Barr-Walker et al.'s (2019) result of 77.4%. Barr-Walker et al.'s 2021 result of 54.0% is the most disparate to the results of this study but is in agreeance in showing that a majority of respondents had experienced sexual harassment. Only two studies found a greater proportion of respondents who had been sexually harassed. These are Benjes-Small et al.'s study, which had a result of 100.0%, and the Oliphant group's study, which had a result of 93.0% (Benjes-Small et al., 2021; Oliphant et al., 2021).

Comparing the results of this study to the ones covered in the literature review is not without its challenges and limitations. None of the previous studies discussed used the same methodology as this study, nor did they focus on the exact same library contexts. Despite their differences, these studies have consistently found that the majority of respondents have experienced sexual harassment. This universal trend gives substantial credence to the notion that sexual harassment towards librarians is a long-standing and widespread issue. The results of this study adds another voice to this chorus.

As this study has utilised the UK Government's 2020 sexual harassment survey, there are substantial grounds for comparing the results of this study to the wider UK workforce. The UK Government's survey findings are dramatically lower than the results of this study. Only 29.0% of the government's survey respondents had experienced at least one form of sexual harassment in the last 12 months (United Kingdom. Government Equalities Office, 2020). This result is, obviously, far lower than the 81.8% result found in this study.

The difference between the two results could be explained by the difference in time coverage. The government's study only asked respondents to reflect on the past 12 months, whereas this study asked respondents to report on the past five years. However, the difference between the two results is so drastic that it is unlikely to be solely the product of this variable. As such, the comparison of these two studies strongly suggests that librarians experience sexual harassment at a far greater rate than the wider UK workforce.

On the subject of time, it is important to acknowledge that the five year period covered in this study includes the period of the Covid-19 pandemic. In the UK several prolonged and sporadic lockdowns were enforced from March 2020 onwards, with restrictions differing among the devolved governments (Paun et al., 2020). The lockdowns typically required public librarians to work remotely, or to work on-site with significant spatial restrictions (Peachey, 2020; McMenemy, Robinson and Ruthven, 2022). As such, librarians' physical exposure to patrons was notably reduced during the period of pandemic restrictions.

It is therefore likely that a decrease in the occurrence of PPSH also occurred. However, there are no prior UK-based studies to compare results with, thereby making it very difficult to determine how the pandemic and rise of remote working impacted PPSH.

The results of this study not only support the statistical conclusions presented in the literature review, but also support the anecdotal evidence presented in the professional literature. In particular, the result of 81.8% strongly supports the rhetoric that sexual harassment in libraries is simply part of the job (Civitello and McLain, 2016; Carlton, 2017; Civitello and McLain, 2017; Ford, 2017; Jensen, 2017; MacBride, 2018; Dewitt, 2019; Jensen, 2019). Based on the demographic data collected, there is no one gender or ethnicity that is immune to sexual harassment, nor does being underage protect a librarian from sexual harassment. Whether

assisting patrons in person or remotely, librarians are exposed to and have experienced sexual harassment.

Four out of five public librarians surveyed in this study had experienced at least one type of sexual harassment, however, it was rare for a respondent to have only experienced one type of harassment. The vast majority of respondents indicated that they had experienced multiple forms of sexual harassment over the past five years. The structure of the survey meant that respondents were not asked to distinguish separate incidents of sexual harassment, nor were they asked to recount the number of times they had experienced a single type of sexual harassment.

As such, the results from this study do not present a comprehensive picture of PPSH in public libraries. Nevertheless, this study is a valuable contribution to this burgeoning field, helping to formalise anecdotal accounts of harassment, capture the scale of the issue, and create an impetus for addressing sexual harassment in libraries.

This study and its findings do have their limitations. The chosen data collection methods capitalised on professional networks of current public librarians. Whilst this was an effective method, it was unlikely to reach any ex-librarians, including those who quit the profession due to sexual harassment. As such, this study may not have captured the most severe cases of PPSH. In addition, the data collection methods may not have been effective in reaching volunteer or part-time librarians, who are less likely to participate in professional networks.

Additional limitations of this study are the natural limitations of a quantitative methodology. As previously discussed, respondents were not asked to describe their experiences of sexual harassment, nor were they asked about the impact of those experiences. Although these aspects were beyond the scope of this dissertation, they have been addressed in other works. This includes the works discussed in the literature review, the broader field of sexual harassment studies, and the umbrella field of feminist studies. Nevertheless, exploring the impact of sexual harassment within the specific context for libraries is a potential avenue for future research.

5.1 Types of Sexual Harassment

Table 3 (p.42) shows the survey results for the sixteen different types of sexual harassment, in order of most common to least common. As discussed in the results section, this ranking revealed four distinct groups. These groups are not only useful for understanding the broad trends in sexual harassment experiences for UK public librarians but are also helpful aids for analysing the results of this study's survey.

Group one contains the sexual harassment behaviours experienced by the highest proportion of respondents. These behaviours share several common features, such as involving no direct physical contact between the patron and the librarian. The first and fourth most common types of sexual harassment experienced by respondents are of a very similar nature, pertaining to unwanted sexual jokes and comments. These results are unsurprising.

Each work included in the literature review referred to this type of harassment, illustrating the widespread commonality of this type of sexual harassment in libraries and other workplaces (Civitello and McLain, 2016; Carlton, 2017; Civitello and McLain, 2017; Ford, 2017; Jensen; 2017; Jensen, 2019). Librarians' anecdotes of sexual harassment regularly quoted patrons' inappropriate comments and jokes, and each of the preceding academic studies recorded experiences of verbal sexual harassment (Barr-Walker, et al., 2019; Barr-Walker et al., 2021;

Benjes-Small et al., 2021; Oliphant et al., 2021). The results of this study support the widely held argument that verbal harassment is one of the most common forms of sexual harassment, particularly in libraries.

Unwelcome staring is the second most common form of sexual harassment experienced by respondents. This high result is understandable considering the particular attributes of this behaviour. With no verbal interaction or physical contact required, a patron can stare inappropriately at a librarian from almost any practical distance within a library. The patron does not need to be in close physical proximity to the librarian, nor do they need to identify themselves to the librarian, allowing the cover of anonymity which may embolden certain patrons. Even when inappropriate staring occurs at close quarters, it can be challenging to address; victims may simply want to ignore the behaviour and avoid a verbal altercation (Fitzgerald, Swan and Fischer, 1995).

The third most common behaviour is 'displays of pornographic or sexually offensive materials' and is particularly noteworthy. The issue of patrons' access to pornography via public library resources is regularly discussed outside of the context of sexual harassment. This occurs most frequently in the US, where the debate is grounded in issues of freedom of information and constitutional rights (American Library Association, 2007; Peralta, 2011; Edlund, 2020). In the UK, however, this debate is less prominent.

UK public libraries typically have policies explicitly prohibiting patrons from accessing pornography on the library's computers (CILIP, no date b; Islington Council, no date; Aberdeen City Libraries, 2016; Libraries NI, 2016; National Library of Wales, 2016). In addition, many libraries use internet filters to block pornographic websites from being accessed

INST0062

on the library's network (Cooke et al., 2014). Despite these policies and procedures, it is evident from this study that patrons are still accessing and harassing librarians with displays of pornographic material. This is most likely being done on patron's personal devices, possibly using their own mobile data. It is therefore necessary for UK public libraries to re-evaluate current policies and procedures to reduce the occurrence of this form of sexual harassment. Although patrons have a right to information, librarians have the right to a harassment-free workplace.

Despite the harm they cause, the group one behaviours are often not taken seriously as a form of sexual harassment. Inappropriate remarks and unwanted staring can easily be dismissed by perpetrators, witnesses, management, and even victims themselves, either as a misunderstanding or an insignificant issue (Fitzgerald, Swan and Fischer, 1995; Good and Cooper, 2016; Allard, Lieu and Oliphant, 2020). A common line of defence is that the perpetrator was just being friendly, or that the victim is too sensitive (Good and Cooper, 2016; Bergenfeld et al., 2022; Green, in press). In addition, the non-physical and typically non-aggressive nature of these remarks means that people do not recognise these behaviours as being a form of sexual harassment (Wood and Moylan, 2017; Benjes-Small et al., 2021). It is in this regard that comprehensive definitions, such as the ones offered in the introduction of this dissertation, can be of significant value.

Group two contains the second most common types of sexual harassment behaviours, experienced by around 20.0% to 30.0% of respondents. Compared to group one, the group two behaviours are more physical and direct. These include a patron making inappropriate physical contact with the librarian, and a patron following the librarian without permission. These forms of harassment are commonly described in the works covered in the literature review,

particularly the anonymous anecdotes included in blogposts and online articles (Civitello and McLain, 2016; Jensen 2017; McBride, 2018; Jensen, 2019).

The other two behaviours included in group two, whilst not involving any physical contact, are still more direct and escalated than the behaviours in group one. These other two behaviours are a patron making provocative sounds towards a librarian, and a patron persistently attempting to establish a romantic or sexual relationship. Unlike group one, these behaviours are more difficult to excuse as a simple misunderstanding and are therefore more widely recognised as a form of sexual harassment. Nevertheless, the results of this study show that these behaviours have been experienced by a substantial proportion of UK public librarians.

The third group of sexual harassment behaviours are some of the least common forms of harassment experienced by respondents. Group three behaviours were all experienced by less than 10.0% of respondents and are a rather disparate group of behaviours. The highest result within group three belongs to 'any other forms of sexual harassment', with just under 8.0% of respondents answering 'yes'. As previously mentioned, the quantitative methodology of this study means that respondents could not be given the opportunity to provide further details. As such, it is unclear what other types of sexual harassment these respondents experienced.

This methodological limitation occurred, in part, due to the formative nature of this study. As there is minimal prior research in this field, especially in a UK context, this study was never intended to be nor could ever have been an exhaustive investigation. Understanding the other forms of sexual harassment not listed in this study's survey is therefore the remit of another future study. Considering the recent Covid pandemic, and the subsequent rise of remote working, it is surprising that just under 5.0% of respondents had received unwanted messages with material of a sexual nature. As discussed, the Covid pandemic and resulting lockdowns meant that many public libraries had to shift their services entirely online. With a dramatic increase in the use of digital communications between librarians and patrons, one would expect that unwanted sexual messages would be widely experienced. This expectation is compounded by Kannegiser and Hunter's survey results, which found that 60.0% of their respondents had experienced sexual harassment whilst providing chat reference services (American Library Association, 2021). The results of this study show, however, that this prediction did not prevail. Unwanted sexual messages from patrons have not been widely received by UK public librarians over the past five years.

The infrequency with which respondents felt pressured to date a patron or perform a sexual act in exchange for something is not surprising. As workplace sexual harassment studies have shown, this form of harassment typically takes place between managers and subordinates, or employers and employees (Gregory, 2004). These are relationships where one person has clear and direct power over the other, with the ability to punish the victim if they do not comply (Gregory, 2004).

Patrons rarely have this form of direct power over a librarian. The literature review material reflects this absence, providing minimal anecdotal evidence of patrons pressuring librarians in this way. However, this should not discredit this form of sexual harassment entirely. As the survey results show, just over 4.0% of respondents have experienced this form of harassment in the past five years. Whilst this number is far lower than most of the harassment behaviours included in this study, any number above zero is unacceptable.

INST0062

21190752

The two least common forms of sexual harassment experienced by respondents, aside from behaviours which no respondents experienced, are flashing and unwanted, overt sexual touching. The similar result for these two behaviours is, once again, not surprising. These behaviours are some of the most physical and most extreme forms of harassment included in the survey. CCTV and a substantial number of potential witnesses (either librarians or patrons) would likely be deterrents to flashers, as would the inability to dismiss the incident as a misunderstanding. Similarly, unwanted, overt sexual touching is difficult to ignore, and requires a close proximity between patron and librarian. Whilst any form of sexual harassment is unacceptable, the low result for these two behaviours is understandable.

The fourth and final group of sexual harassment behaviours are those that no respondents had experienced over the past five years. Group four is comprised of only two types of sexual harassment. The two behaviours that received zero 'yes' responses were a patron taking and/or sharing sexual pictures or videos of a librarian without their permission, and rape and/or attempted rape.

Although none of this study's respondents experienced these forms of sexual harassment, this does not mean that no UK public librarians have had these experiences over the past five years. This is particularly relevant for patrons taking/sharing photos or videos of librarians; a librarian would need to catch the patron or see the evidence in order to know it occurred. Otherwise, the librarian could be entirely oblivious to the occurrence of this behaviour. Rather than stating that group four behaviours have never occurred, this study instead proposes that these two forms of harassment are highly uncommon experiences for UK public librarians. Overall, the

fact that patrons experienced fourteen of the sixteen behaviours presented in the survey demonstrates the prevalence and variety of PPSH that has occurred in UK public libraries.

5.2 Age

This study was unable to collect a substantive sample size for the experiences of underage public librarians. Only three respondents indicated that they had been under 18 years old whilst working as a UK public librarian in the past five years. Despite this small sample size, the experiences of these respondents, and of underage public librarians more broadly, should not go unaddressed.

All three respondents who had been under 18 years old indicated that they had experienced at least one form of sexual harassment from a patron. The survey design means that it is not clear whether these respondents experienced this harassment whilst they were underage, or in the period after they turned 18. Nevertheless, the patrons who harassed these respondents likely would not have known the respondent's exact age. All these patrons would have known is that they were targeting young and vulnerable individuals, who may or may not have been children in the eyes of the law.

In cases of sexual harassment, the age of the victim is significant because it changes the nature of the crime being committed. In the UK there are numerous pieces of legislation addressing the different forms of sexual harassment and sexual assault within the separate legal jurisdictions of the UK (Sexual Offences Act 2003; The Sexual Offences (Northern Ireland) Order 2008; Sexual Offences (Scotland) Act 2009; Equality Act 2010). Without delving into the legal minutiae of these numerous pieces of legislation, the most important point is that sexual harassment or assault between adults is a markedly different crime to an adult sexually

harassing or assaulting a child. The consequences of the latter potentially include long-term restrictions around the perpetrator's access and proximity to children, and naturally carries the implication/association of paedophilia. Age is, therefore, an important factor to consider in cases of sexual harassment and sexual assault.

The legal consequences for the perpetrator are not the only reason to discuss a victim's age. With less life experience than an adult, teenagers and children typically do not know how to respond to instances of harassment, nor how to handle the negative impact upon their physical, mental, and emotional health (Boles, 2015). Civitello and McLain noted this point in their 2016 conference presentation, outlining several possible indicators that an underage librarian has been sexually harassed. Library managers not only have a legal obligation to ensure the safety of underage librarians but also have an ethical responsibility to ensure the safety of these vulnerable employees and volunteers (Health and Safety Executive, no date; Rubin, 1991).

Upon initial inspection, the small sample size of underage librarians collected by this survey would suggest that underage librarians are a rare occurrence in UK public libraries. However, evidence from various public libraries across the UK shows that this is not necessarily the case. Public libraries regularly advertise volunteer roles specifically aimed at teenagers, often as young as 14 (High Life Highland, no date; North Wales Area Library, 2021; Dorset Council, 2022; Slough Borough Council, 2022). These opportunities occur on a regular basis, such as through the Duke of Edinburgh Award programme or an annual summer volunteer programme (Bexley Libraries, no date; The Reading Agency, 2013; The Reading Agency, 2014; Slough Borough Council, 2022; Surrey County Council, 2022).

INST0062

Aside from regularly bringing underage volunteers into the library, these programmes focus heavily on patron services, such as leading reading groups (North Wales Area Library, 2021; Dorset Council, 2022; Slough Borough Council, 2022; Surrey County Council, 2022). As such, these underage volunteers work predominantly in the open public areas of the library, rather than the restricted staff only areas. Therefore, these children are regularly physically exposed to all library patrons and are consequently vulnerable to PPSH.

Just like adult librarians, underage librarians have the right to work in a safe environment without fear of sexual harassment. The results of this study support Civitello and McLain's assertion that underage librarians are not only acutely vulnerable to but are experiencing PPSH (Civitello and McLain, 2016). Further academic research is required in this area to fully understand this subject. In the meantime, library management should be aware of the possibility of underage librarians being sexually harassed by patrons. Additionally, management should ensure robust policies and procedures are in place to prevent this from happening and take appropriate steps if it does occur.

5.3 Gender

Of the 123 respondents who identified as female, 104 (84.6%) had experienced at least one form of sexual harassment from a patron in the last five years. Of the 16 respondents who identified as male, nine (56.3%) had experienced at least one form of sexual harassment from a patron in the last five years. Four respondents identified as either non-binary or self-described, and all four had experienced at least one form of sexual harassment from a patron in the last five years. The results for female and male respondents are shown in Figure 3 and Figure 4 respectively.



Figure 3. Results for whether female respondents experienced at least one form of PPSH



Figure 4. Results for whether male respondents experienced at least one form of PPSH

INST0062

A chi-square test of independence showed that there was a statistically significant association between gender (male or female) and experience of sexual harassment, $X^2 (1, N = 139) = 7.45$, p = .006. This test shows that a public librarian's gender identity significantly impacted the probability that they would be sexually harassed by a library patron, with female librarians having a higher probability than male librarians.

This study was able to achieve a sample size with a gender composition that was fairly representative of the UK library workforce. According to CILIP's most recent diversity report, 79.0% of the UK library and information workforce identify as female (CILIP, 2018). This study's proportion of women was slightly higher, sitting at 86.0%. In regards to men, this study had a lower proportion of male respondents compared to the UK librarian population. 11.2% of this study's respondents identified as male, whereas 21.0% of the UK librarian population identifies as male (CILIP, 2018).

Although the male and female sample size is reasonably representative of the UK librarian workforce, it is unclear whether the same can be said for this study's sample of gender diverse librarians. This uncertainty is due to a lack of information; despite the numerous articles around LGTBQ+ librarians and LGBTQ+ professional networks, there is no clear statistic on the number of gender diverse librarians in the UK. Therefore, it cannot be stated with any certainty how representative the data collected in this study is of the wider experiences of gender diverse librarians in the UK.

Unfortunately, this study was unable to collect a large enough sample size for gender diverse respondents to perform any statistical tests. This limitation should not discredit the data that was collected. All four non-binary and self-described respondents had experienced at least one

form of PPSH over the past five years. This high result indicates that non-binary and other gender diverse UK librarians are likely to be experiencing PPSH and may be particularly vulnerable to this form of harassment.

Overall, the results of this study regarding the gender of respondents support the wellestablished principle that women are more likely to experience sexual harassment and assault than men (Lewis, 2018). This proposition is fundamental to the field of feminist studies, including the work of the Oliphant group (Allard, Lieu and Oliphant 2020; Oliphant, Allard and Lieu, 2020). The Oliphant group's theoretical diagram (Figure 1. p.27) clearly illustrates the importance of gender to PPSH. In the diagram, patriarchy and rape culture are one of the four major social structures that influence PPSH in libraries. The facet of 'feminised labour' also appears in the diagram outside of the boundary of 'patriarchy and rape culture'. Gender dynamics manifest in several different ways in the Oliphant diagram but are consistent in reinforcing the vulnerability of women to sexual harassment.

Whilst their theoretical work is substantial, the Oliphant group's planned timing for their forthcoming publication means they are yet to publish their survey findings in full (Allard, 2022b). Barr-Walker et al. 2019 were also unable to comment on gender in relation to their results, as this would have compromised their respondents' anonymity. Only Barr-Walker et al. 2021 and Benjes-Small et al. 2021 were able to provide any gender insights, and they concluded that women were more likely to experience sexual harassment than men. This dissertation, therefore, supports the findings of these two 2021 studies, and supports the Oliphant group's theoretical work on the significance of gender identity for PPSH.

INST0062

Although this study's findings are particularly significant for female librarians, the results for male librarians should not be ignored. Over half of male respondents have experienced a form of sexual harassment from a patron over the last five years. The works discussed in the literature review rarely addressed male librarians' sexual harassment experiences. This is likely due to the female-focus discussed above, as well as the dominance of women within the librarianship profession. However, the results of this study show that PPSH is a common experience for male public librarians. As such, it should be addressed in research and in the workplace alongside the harassment of female and gender diverse librarians.

5.4 Ethnicity

The following discussion regarding ethnicity has divided respondents into two main categories. These categories are white people, and people of colour. The latter category combines respondents who identified as either Asian or Asian British, Black, African, Caribbean or Black British, mixed or multiple ethnic groups, or another ethnic group. This decision was made partially for practical reasons. The formative nature and limited scale of this study means that it is neither effective nor viable to investigate each ethnicity individually. However, there is also a theoretical basis for this analytical angle.

The decision to divide respondents into these two categories is based upon intersectional feminist theory, and in particular, the recognition of white supremacy within librarianship. As the Oliphant group's theoretical diagram (Figure 1. p.27) shows, white supremacy is one of the main contextual influences on PPSH in libraries (Allard, Lieu and Oliphant, 2020; Oliphant, Allard and Lieu, 2020). It affects not only the concepts of feminised labour and universal access, bringing forth the image of the white saviour and Lady Bountiful, but also the expected

identities of librarians themselves (Schlesselman-Tarango, 2016; Allard, Lieu and Oliphant, 2020; Oliphant, Allard and Lieu, 2020).

Ethnic diversity and racism have been long-standing issues within librarianship, which has led to the dominance of white librarians, particularly in the UK. According to CILIP's most recent diversity report, 97.0% of UK librarians identified as white, and only 3.0% identified as people of colour (CILIP, 2018). In contrast, 88.0% of the UK population identifies as white (Poole, 2019). Evidently, UK librarianship is dominated by white individuals, meaning that where librarians of colour do work, they are visible minorities, are often heightened targets of harassment, and may have less power to combat harassment (Adib and Gurrier, 2003). In addition, the presence of white supremacy within library management procedures means that librarians of colour may not receive sufficient support when harassment does occur (Allard, Lieu and Oliphant, 2020).

Ethnicity complicates experiences of sexual harassment. When a person of colour experiences sexual harassment, it is not unusual for racial harassment to occur simultaneously (Crenshaw, 1989; Buchanan and Ormerod, 2002; Woods, Buchanan and Settles, 2009). Considering these practical and theoretical factors, it is worthwhile to investigate the sexual harassment experiences of librarians of colour separately from the experiences of white librarians.

Three respondents chose not to disclose their ethnicity, and all three had experienced at least one form of sexual harassment in the last five years. Naturally, these three respondents cannot be included in this analysis of the relationship between ethnicity and sexual harassment. Of the 120 respondents who identified as white, 99 (82.5%) had experienced at least one form of sexual harassment in the last five years. Of the twenty respondents who identified as a person of colour, fifteen (75.0%) had experienced at least one type of sexual harassment in the last five years. The proportion of librarians of colour who had experienced at least one form of PPSH was, therefore, just slightly lower than the proportion of white librarians, with a difference of 7.5%. The results for white respondents and respondents of colour are shown in Figure 5 and Figure 6 respectively.



Figure 5. Results for whether white respondents experienced at least one form of PPSH



Figure 6. Results for whether respondents of colour experienced at least one form of PPSH

A chi-square test of independence showed that there was no statistically significant association between ethnicity and experience of sexual harassment, $X^2(1, N = 140) = 0.64$, p. = .425. This means that this study was unable to prove that there is a correlation between a public librarian's ethnicity and the probability that they would have experienced PPSH.

The inability of this study to prove a statistically significant relationship between ethnicity and sexual harassment is due to the sample size for librarians of colour being too small. This limitation exists despite the fact that this study's ratio of white respondents to respondents of colour was more balanced than the current UK library workforce. As stated, 97.0% of UK librarians identify as white and 3.0% identifying as people of colour (CILIP, 2018). In contrast,

83.9% of this study's respondents identified as white, with 14.0% identifying as people of colour and 2.1% not disclosing their ethnicity.

The difficulty of gathering a sufficiently large sample size for librarians of colour is a common challenge for academic studies of libraries and sexual harassment. Benjes-Small et al. (2021) were unable to draw any conclusions regarding ethnicity due to their small sample size of librarians of colour. Only 11.0% of their respondents identified as people of colour (Benjes-Small et al., 2021). The Oliphant group achieved a similar proportion for their study, with 9.5% of their respondents identifying as people of colour (Oliphant et al., 2021). However, their conclusions are not yet published (Allard, 2022b). Barr-Walker et al. (2019) and Barr-Walker et al. (2021) were also unable to comment on ethnicity, as to do so would risk respondent anonymity. As such, there is little material available for comparison to this study's results.

It is important to note that just because this study was unable to prove that there is a statistically significant relationship between ethnicity and sexual harassment does not mean that one does not exist. As discussed in the literature review, there are only a handful of studies that have investigated sexual harassment in libraries, and this study is the first to do so in the UK. Far more research is required in this area before it can be stated with any certainty that a librarian's ethnicity has no influence at all on the probability that they will experience PPSH.

21190752

<u>6. Recommendations</u>

As this study has shown, there is still much research to do on sexual harassment in public libraries, as well as other types of libraries, within the UK and internationally. In addition, there are numerous steps that libraries and professional organisations can take to address the widespread problem of PPSH. Based on the findings of this study, the following actions are recommended.

Research:

- Further research is necessary to understand sexual harassment in a variety of library contexts. This includes different types of libraries (e.g., academic, special collections) and different perpetrators (co-workers as well as library patrons).
- Future studies may focus on exploring the limitations of this study. These include how sexual harassment experiences differ for people of colour, gender diverse people, and underage individuals. These studies will require larger sample sizes than the ones acquired in this study and may benefit from a combined quantitative and qualitative methodology.
- Further research, particularly qualitative research, is required to understand the impact of sexual harassment on librarians, and to explore the other forms of sexual harassment that were not captured in this study.

Professional practice:

Professional organisations, such as CILIP, should acknowledge and address the issue of PPSH within public libraries. This recognition should include a formal statement on the issue and advocating for or even providing sexual harassment training. In addition, CILIP could provide resources for individuals and workplaces on how to develop

sexual harassment policies and implement effective sexual harassment prevention procedures.

- Library management should review existing sexual harassment policies and training and implement changes where necessary. In addition, management could survey staff members anonymously to ascertain the scale of this issue within their individual workplaces.
- Sexual harassment education and training should be included in the curriculum for students studying librarianship.

21190752

7. Conclusion

The purpose of this study was to investigate PPSH towards UK public librarians since 2017. Using an intersectional epistemology and quantitative methodology, this study fulfilled this purpose and answered the three research questions presented in the methodology. One of the key findings from this study was that 81.8% of respondents had experienced at least one form of PPSH in the last five years. In addition, the 143 respondents had experienced 14 of the 16 sexual harassment behaviours listed in the survey, with one of those 14 being 'other forms of sexual harassment' not listed in the survey.

Organising the 16 behaviours into four groups, based on the survey results, revealed further insights. The most common types of sexual harassment were indirect and more easily excusable behaviours, such as staring, inappropriate comments and jokes, and viewing pornography. Unsurprisingly, the more extreme, direct and physical forms of harassment were among the least commonly experienced. The survey results help illustrate the scale of PPSH in UK public libraries and the nature of the problem.

This study also produced findings for the third research question, which concerned the relationship between age, ethnicity, gender, and sexual harassment. Findings on age and ethnicity were limited due to the small sample size for these demographics. However, this study indicated that underage employees are vulnerable to PPSH. Additionally, although librarians of colour comprise only 3.0% of the UK librarian workforce, respondents of colour experienced PPSH at a fairly similar rate to white respondents. In regards to gender, this study found a statistically significant relationship between gender and sexual harassment, with female respondents being more likely to have been sexual harassment. Once again, the small sample

size for gender diverse librarians limited the findings for this group, but this may be an avenue for future researchers to pursue.

The findings of this dissertation are significant due to the scarcity of academic studies on sexual harassment in libraries, especially in the context of public libraries and the UK. However, the formative nature of this study is a double-edged sword. With minimal pre-existing groundwork, this study's scope was narrow, focusing on establishing essential data around PPSH in UK public libraries. Consequently, there are still many facets of sexual harassment in libraries for researchers and professionals to explore, as outlined in the recommendations section.

Overall, this study has affirmed the dominant narrative that sexual harassment is part of the job for librarians. This study not only supports the homogenous arguments presented in the literature review but has brought the discussion into a UK context. It has been almost thirty years since the first accounts of sexual harassment towards librarians were published, yet this issue has largely gone unaddressed. Hopefully, as more librarians and academics shine a light on this issue, librarians will finally receive the necessary support to address the problem of sexual harassment in libraries.

Bibliography

- Aberdeen City Libraries (2016). Acceptable Use Policy. Aberdeen City Council. Available at: https://www.aberdeencity.gov.uk/sites/default/files/PC_Acceptable_Use_Policy.pdf (Accessed: 30 August 2022).
- Adib, A. and Guerrier, Y. (2003). 'The Interlocking of Gender with Nationality, Race, Ethnicity and Class: the Narratives of Women in Hotel Work', *Gender, Work and Organization*, 10(4), pp.413-432.
- American Library Association. (2007). *Intellectual Freedom and Censorship Q & A*. Available at: https://www.ala.org/advocacy/intfreedom/censorship/faq#ifpoint11 (Accessed: 30 August 2022).
- American Library Association (2021). *New Discoveries in Reference: the 27th Annual Reference Research Forum*. Available at: https://www.eventscribe.net/2021/ALA-Annual/fsPopup.asp?Mode=presInfo&PresentationID=872162 (Accessed: 28 August 2022).
- Allard, D. (2022a). Email to Brooke Cambie, 28 July.
- Allard, D. (2022b). Email to Brooke Cambie, 3 August.
- Allard, D., Lieu, A. and Oliphant, T. (2020). 'Reading between the Lines: An Environmental Scan of Writing about Third-Party Sexual Harassment in the LIS Literature and Beyond', *Library Quarterly: Information, Community, Policy*, 90(4), pp.412-430.
- Barr-Walker, J., Caramagno, D., Nevels, I., Romero, D. and Tahir, P. (2019). 'Sexual Harassment in the Library: Understanding Experiences and Taking Action', ACLR 2019: Recasting the Narrative. Cleaveland, Ohio, 10-13 April. pp.421-427. Available at: https://www.ala.org/acrl/sites/ala.org.acrl/files/content/conferences/confsandpreconfs/2019/SexualHarassmentintheLibrary.pdf (Accessed: 14 March 2022).
- Barr-Walker, J., Hoffner, C., McMunn-Tetangco, E. and Mody, N. (2021). 'Sexual Harassment at University of California Libraries: Understanding the Experiences of Library Staff Members', *College & Research Libraries*, 82(2), pp.237-266.
- Benjes-Small, C., Knievel, J. E., Resor-Whicker, J., Wisecup, A. and Hunter, J. (2021).
 '#MeToo in the Academic Library: A Quantitative Measurement of the Prevalence of Sexual Harassment in Academic Libraries', *College & Research Libraries*, 82(5), pp.623-641.
- Bergenfeld, I., Clark, C. J., Sandhu, S., Yount, K. M., Essaid, A. A., Sajdi, J., Taleb, R. A., Robbin, Z., Batayeh, B., Zwooqar, A. and Spencer, R. A. (2022). "There Is Always an Excuse to Blame the Girl": Perspectives on Sexual Harassment at a Jordanian University', *Violence Against Women*, pp.1-25. doi: 10.1177/10778012221079373

- Bexley Libraries (no date). *Duke of Edinburgh's Award Scheme Volunteers*. Available at: https://arena.yourlondonlibrary.net/web/bexley/duke-of-edinburgh-volunteers (Accessed: 15 August 2022).
- Boles, A. M. (2015). 'Centering the Teenage "Siren": Adolescent Workers, Sexual Harassment, and the Legal Construction of Race and Gender', *Michigan Journal of Gender & Law*, 22(1), pp.1-53.
- Buchanan, N. T. and Ormerod, A. J. (2002). 'Racialized Sexual Harassment in the Lives of African American Women', *Women & Therapy*, 25(3-4), pp.107-124. doi: 10.1300/J015v25n03_08
- Carbin, M. and Edenheim S. (2013). 'The Intersectional Turn in Feminist Theory: A Dream of a Common Language?', *European Journal of Women's Studies*, 20(3), pp.233-248. doi: 10.1177/1350506813484723
- Carlton, A. (2017). *Fighting Sexual Harassment in the Library*. Available at: https://americanlibrariesmagazine.org/blogs/the-scoop/fighting-sexual-harassmentlibrary/ (Accessed: 15 June 2022).
- CILIP. (no date a). *Diversity, Equality, and Inclusion: Taking a Data-Driven Approach*. Available at: https://www.cilip.org.uk/page/diversityequalityandinclusion# (Accessed: 28 August 2022).
- CILIP. (no date b). *Freedom of Access to Information*. Available at: https://www.cilip.org.uk/page/FreedomOfAccessToInformation (Accessed: 30 August 2022).
- CILIP. (2018). CILIP Carnegie and Kate Greenaway Awards Independent Diversity Review Final Report. London: CILIP. Available at: https://cdn.ymaws.com/www.cilip.org.uk/resource/resmgr/cilip/information_professio nal_and_news/press_releases/2018_09_ckgfinalreport/cilip_ckg_diversity_review_f.p df (Accessed: 2 August 2022).
- Citizens Advice (2019). *Step 2: check if your employer is responsible for the unfair treatment*. Available at: https://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/work/discrimination-atwork/checking-if-its-discrimination/check-if-your-problem-at-work-isdiscrimination/step-2-check-if-your-employer-is-responsible-for-the-unfair-treatment/ (Accessed: 27 August 2022).
- Civitello, A. and McLain, K. (2016). 'It's Not Just Part of the Job: Breaking the Silence on Sexual Harassment in the Library'. [PowerPoint [presentation]. Available at: https://www.waukeganpl.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/Slides-as-presented.pdf (Accessed: 10 June 2022).
- Civitello, A. and McLain, K. (2017). 'It's Not Just Part of the Job: Speaking Out About Sexual Harassment', *ILA Reporter*, 35(6), pp.4-7.

- Cooke, L., Spacey, R., Creaser, C. and Muir, A. (2014). "You Don't Come to the Library to Look at Porn and Stuff Like That": Filtering Software in Public Libraries', *Library and Information Research*, 38(117), pp.5-19.
- Crenshaw, K. (1989). 'Demarginalizing the Intersection of Race and Sex: A Black Feminist Critique of Antidiscrimination Doctrine, Feminist Theory and Antiracist Politics', *University of Chicago Legal Forum*, 1989(1), pp.139-167.
- Dewitt, M. (2019). *Sexual Harassment in the Library: When Patrons are the Perpetrators*. Available at: https://hacklibraryschool.com/2019/12/26/27088/ (Accessed: March 19 2022).
- Dixon, J. A. (2018). *Libraries Address #MeToo*. Available at: https://www.libraryjournal.com/story/libraries-address-metoo (Accessed: March 19 2022).
- Dorset Council (2022). *Dorset Libraries Volunteering Opportunities for Young People Aged 14 to 25*. Available at: https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/w/opportunities-for-youngpeople (Accessed: 15 August 2022).
- Edlund, H. (2020). 'An Analysis of American Public Libraries' Policies on Patron Use of Internet Pornography', *Open Information Science*, 4(1), pp.58-74. doi: /10.1515/opis-2020-0005
- Eisenstein, J. (2018). *Libraries Respond to #MeToo Movement*. Available at: https://www.ala.org/aboutala/libraries-respond-metoo-movement (Accessed: 14 July 2022).
- *Equality Act 2010.* Available at: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/section/26 (Accessed: 27 August 2022).
- Fitzgerald, L., Magley, V. J., Drasgow, F. and Waldo C. R. (1999). 'Measuring Sexual Harassment in the Military: The Sexual Experiences Questionnaire (SEQ-DoD)', *Military Psychology*, 11(3), pp.243-263.
- Fitzgerald, L., Shullman, S., Bailey, N., Richards, M., Swecker, J., Gold, Y., Ormerod, M. and Weitzman, L. (1988). 'The Incidence and Dimensions of Sexual Harassment in Academia and the Workplace', *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 32, pp.152-175.
- Fitzgerald, L., Swan, S. and Fischer, K. (1995). 'Why Didn't She Just Report Him? The Psychological and Legal Implications of Women's Responses to Sexual Harassment', *Journal of Social Issues*, 51(1), pp.117-138.
- Ford, A. (2017). 'Stop Sexual Harassment in Your Library', American Libraries, (November/December), pp.16-17.
- Good, L. and Cooper, R. (2016). 'But It's Your Job To Be Friendly': Employees Coping With and Contesting Sexual Harassment from Customers in the Service Sector', *Gender, Work and Organization*, 23(5), pp.447-469. doi: 10.1111/gwao.12117

- Green, J. F. (in press). '...It Makes Me Want to Shut Down, Cover Up': Female Bartenders' Use of Emotional Labour While Receiving Unwanted Sexual Attention at a Public House', *Sociological Research Online*, pp.1-18. doi: 10.1177/13607804221091573
- Gregory, R. F. (2004). Unwelcome and Unlawful: Sexual Harassment in the American Workplace. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.
- Gutek, B., Murphy, R. and Douma, B. (2004). 'A Review and Critique of the Sexual Experiences Questionnaire (SEQ)', *Law and Human Behavior*, 28(4), pp.457-482.
- Health and Safety Executive (no date). *Young People at Work*. Available at: https://www.hse.gov.uk/youngpeople/index.htm (Accessed: 31 August 2022).
- Henning, M. A., Zhou, C., Adams, P., Moir, F., Hobson, J., Hallett, C. and Webster, C. S. (2017). 'Workplace Harassment Among Staff in Higher Education: A Systematic Review', Asia Pacific Education Review, 18, pp.521-539.
- High Life Highland (no date). *High Voltage Young Volunteers in Libraries*. Available at: https://www.highlifehighland.com/libraries/high-voltage/ (Accessed: 15 August 2022).
- Hochschild, A. R. (2012). *The Managed Heart: Commercialization of Human Feeling*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Islington Council (no date). Acceptable Use Policy for Information Technology Resources and Internet Access. Available at: https://www.islington.gov.uk/libraries-arts-andheritage/libraries/join-islington-libraries/computers-internet-and-wifi/acceptable-usepolicy-for-information (Accessed: 10 August 2022).
- Jensen, K. (2017). *The State of Sexual Harrasment in the Library*. Available at: https://bookriot.com/sexual-harassment-library/ (Accessed: March 19 2022).
- Jensen, K. (2019). Sexual Harassment in Libraries, Post-#MeToo: What Has and Hasn't Changed? Available at: https://bookriot.com/sexual-harassment-in-libraries/ (Accessed: March 19 2022).
- Lewis, G. (2009). 'Celebrating Intersectionality? Debates on a Multi-faceted Concept in Gender Studies: Themes from a Conference', *European Journal of Women's Studies*, 16(3), pp.203-210. doi: 10.1177/1350506809105310.
- Lewis, J. A. (2018). 'From Modern Sexism to Gender Microagressions: Understanding Contemporary Forms of Sexism and Their Influence on Diverse Women', in Travis, C. B., White, J. W., Rutherford, A. and Williams, W. S. (eds.) APA Hanbook of the Psychology of Women: History, Theory, and Battlegrounds. Washington: American Psychological Association, pp.381-397.
- Libraries NI (2016). *Library Computers and Wi-Fi Access: Conditions of Use for Adults*. Available at: https://www.librariesni.org.uk/media/u2gob1ai/library-computers-andwi-fi-access-conditions-of-use-for-adults-revised-march-2016.pdf (Accessed: 30 August 2022).

- MacBride, K. (2018). *#TimesUp on Harassing Your Public Librarian*. Available at: https://www.shondaland.com/act/a15876574/timesup-on-harassing-your-publiclibrarian/ (Accessed: March 19 2022).
- Manley, W. (1992). 'Librarians and Sex'. Wilson Library Bulletin, 66, p.66.
- Manley, W. (January 1993). 'Will's World: No Laughing Matter This Month', *American Libraries*, 24(1), p.68.
- Manley, W. (March 1993). 'Will's World: The Manley Report', *American Libraries*, 24(3), p.258.
- Manley, W. (July/August 1993). 'Will's World: Sexual Harassment by Patrons: Part Two', *American Libraries*, 24(7), p.652.
- Manley, W. (September 1993). 'Will's World: Sexual Harassment by Patrons: Part Three', *American Libraries*, 24(8), p.756.
- Manley, W. (October 1993). 'Will's World: Sexual Harassment by Patrons: Part Four', *American Libraries*, 24(9), p.828.
- McMenemy, D., Robinson E. and Ruthven, E. (2022). 'The Impact of Covid-19 Lockdowns on Public Libraries in the UK: Findings from a National Study', *Public Library Quarterly*, pp.1-19. doi: 10.1080/01616846.2022.2058860.
- Mott, C. and Cockayne, D. (2020). 'Understanding how Hatred Persists: Situating Digital Harassment in the Long History of White Supremacy', *Gender, Place & Culture*, 28(11), pp.1521-1540. doi: 10.1080/0966369X.2020.1816920.
- National Library of Wales (2016). *Readers Acceptable Use Policy*. Available at: https://www.library.wales/fileadmin/fileadmin/docs_gwefan/ymweld_a_ni/darllen_yn _llgc/readers_acceptable_use_policy_v2.0_final_en.pdf (Accessed: 30 August 2022).
- North Wales Area Library (2021). Volunteer. Available at: https://www.northwaleslibrary.org/volunteer#:~:text=The%20Library%20will%20acc ept%20youth,the%20discretion%20of%20the%20Director (Accessed: 15 August 2022).
- Oliphant, T., Allard, D. and Lieu, A. (2020). 'Addressing Patron-Perpetrated Sexual Harassment in Libraries: Four propositions for Intersectional Feminist Anti-violence Education in LIS', *Journal of Contemporary Issues in Education*, 15(1), pp.95-109. doi: 10.20355/jcie29390
- Oliphant, T., Allard, D., Lieu, A. and Mallach, K. (2021). 'Naming Patron-Perpetrated Sexual Harassment in Libraries'. *Canadian Association of Information Science: Northern Relations: Overlooked to Information Science*. University of Alberta, 7-10 June. pp.1-6. Available at: https://journals.library.ualberta.ca/ojs.cais-acsi.ca/index.php/cais-asci/article/view/1207/1043 (Accessed: 30 March 2022).

Oltmann, S. M. (2018). 'How Do We Respond to #MeToo?', *American Libraries*, (June), p.81.

- Paun, A., Shuttleworth, K., Nice, A. and Sargeant, J. (2020). Coronavirus and Devolution. Available at: https://www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/explainers/coronavirus-anddevolution (Accessed: 30 August 2022).
- Peachey, J. (2020). Making a Difference: Libraries, Lockdown and Looking Ahead. Carnegie UK Trust. Available at: https://d1ssu070pg2v9i.cloudfront.net/pex/pex_carnegie2021/2020/10/05101626/Ove rarching-report-Making-a-Difference-1.pdf (Accessed: 30 August 2022).
- Peralta, E. (2011). *Pornography is Protected Speech at New York Public Libraries*. Available at: https://www.npr.org/sections/thetwo-way/2011/04/25/135707937/pornography-is-protected-speech-at-new-york-public-libraries?t=1661872289881 (Accessed: 30 August 2022).
- Poole, N. (2019). *Diversity Within the Profession Speech to CILIP West Midlands Members Day*. Available at: https://www.cilip.org.uk/page/DiversitywithintheProfession (Accessed: 2 August 2022).
- Rubin, R. (1991). 'Ethical Issues in Library Personnel Management', *Journal of Library* Administration, 14(4), pp.1-16. doi: 10.1300/J111v14n04_01
- Schlesselman-Tarango, G. (2016). 'The Legacy of Lady Bountiful: White Women in the Library', *Library Trends*, 64(4), pp.667-686. doi: 10.1353/lib.2016.0015
- Sexual Offences Act 2003. United Kingdom. Available at: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/42/contents (Accessed: 21 August 2022).
- Sexual Offences (Scotland) Act 2009 (asp 9). Available at: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2009/9/contents (Accessed: 21 August 2022).
- Slough Borough Council (2022). *Volunteering for Young People*. Available at: https://www.slough.gov.uk/libraries/volunteering-young-people (Accessed: 15 August 2022).
- Stonewall. (2016). *Do Ask, Do Tell*. Available at: https://www.stonewall.org.uk/sites/default/files/do_ask_do_tell_guide_2016.pdf (Accessed: 16 June 2022).
- Stotzer, R. L. (2009). 'Violence Against Transgender People: A Review of United States Data', *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 14(3), pp.170-179.
- Surrey County Council (2022). *Volunteering in Libraries*. Available at: https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/libraries/volunteering (Accessed: 15 August 2022).
- The Reading Agency (2013). *Why Work with Summer Reading Challenge Volunteers?* Available at: https://readingagency.org.uk/young-people/003-skills/resources/whywork-with-summer-reading-challenge-volunteers.html (Accessed: 29 August 2022).

- The Reading Agency (2014). *Recruiting Volunteers for the Summer Reading Challenge*. Available at: https://readingagency.org.uk/young-people/resources-forlibrarians/recruiting-volunteers-for-the-challenge.html (Accessed: 29 August 2022).
- *The Sexual Offences (Northern Ireland) Order 2008* (N.I. 2). Available at: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/nisi/2008/1769/contents (Accessed: 21 August 2022).
- UN Women (2018). Towards an End to Sexual Harassment: The Urgency and Nature of Change in the Era of #MeToo. Available at: https://www.unwomen.org/sites/default/files/Headquarters/Attachments/Sections/Libr ary/Publications/2018/Towards-an-end-to-sexual-harassment-en.pdf (Accessed: 26 August 2022).
- United Kingdom. Government Equalities Office (2020). 2020 Sexual Harassment Survey. Available at: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachme nt_data/file/1002873/2021-07-12_Sexual_Harassment_Report_FINAL.pdf (Accessed: 14 April 2022).
- Willness, C. R., Steel, P. and Lee, K. (2007). 'A Meta-Analysis of the Antecedents and Consequences of Workplace Sexual Harassment', *Personnel Psychology*, 60, pp.127-162.
- Wood, L. and Moylan, C. (2017). "No One Talked About It": Social Work Field Placements and Sexual Harassment", *Journal of Social Work Education*, 53(4), pp.714-726. doi: 10.1080/10437797.2017.1283270
- Woods, K. C., Buchanan, N. T. and Settles, I. H. (2009). 'Sexual Harassment Across the Color Line: Experiences and Outcomes of Cross- Versus Intraracial Sexual Harassment Among Black Women', *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 15(1), pp.67-76. doi: 10.1037/a0013541

Appendix

Sexual Harassment Survey

- 1. Have you worked as a librarian in a UK public library in the last five years?
- This work may be paid or unpaid.
- You do not need to have a library qualification to be considered a librarian.
 - o Yes
 - o No
- 2. During this five year period, were you at any stage under the age of 18?
 - o Yes
 - o No
- 3. What gender do you identify with?
 - o Female
 - o Male
 - o Non-binary
 - Prefer not to say
 - Prefer to self-describe: _____
- 4. What is your ethnicity?
 - Asian or Asian British
 - o Black, African, Caribbean or Black British
 - o White
 - Mixed or multiple ethnic groups
 - Other ethnic group
 - Prefer not to say

Please indicate if you have experienced any of the following behaviours from <u>library</u> <u>patrons</u> whilst working as a public librarian in the UK during the last five years.

As a reminder, your answers are completely anonymous.

5. Displays of pornographic or sexually offensive materials which made you feel uncomfortable, including it being viewed near you

- o Yes
- o No

6. Unwelcome jokes or comments of a sexual nature about you or others that made you feel uncomfortable

- o Yes
- o No

7. Unwelcome comments of a sexual nature about your body and/or clothes

- o Yes
- o No

8. Unwelcome catcalls, wolf-whistling or other provocative sounds

- o Yes
- o No

9. Unwelcome staring or looks which made you feel uncomfortable

- o Yes
- o No

10. Receiving unwanted messages with material of a sexual nature e.g. by text/messaging app, email, social media, instant chat, or another source

- o Yes
- \circ No

11. Feeling pressured by someone to date them or do a sexual act for them in exchange for something

- Yes
- o No

12. Someone making persistent and/or unwanted attempts to establish a romantic and/or sexual relationship with you despite your efforts to discourage it

- o Yes
- o No

13. Someone taking and/or sharing sexual pictures or videos of you without your permission

- Yes
- o No

14. Flashing (e.g. the deliberate exposure of someone's intimate parts)

- Yes
- o No

15. Someone physically following you without your permission in a way that made you feel sexually threatened

- o Yes
- o No

16. Someone intentionally, brushing up against you or invading your personal space in an unwelcome, sexual way

- o Yes
- o No

17. Unwanted touching (e.g. placing hand on lower back or knee)

- o Yes
- o No

18. Unwanted, overt sexual touching (touching of the breasts, buttocks or genitals, attempts to kiss)

- o Yes
- o No

19. Rape and/or attempted rape

- o Yes
- o No
- 20. Any other forms of sexual harassment?
 - o Yes
 - o No